IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 01-301

GEORGE N. KOIKOS, d/b/a Spartan Restaurant,

Appellant,

v.

THE TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation, and THE CHARTER OAK FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Appellees.

/

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals Case No. 00-11611

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT GEORGE N. KOIKOS

M. Stephen Turner Florida Bar No. 095691 David K. Miller Florida Bar No. 213128 Kelly O'Keefe Florida Bar No. 0012718

BROAD AND CASSEL 215 S. Monroe Street, Ste. 400 P. O. Drawer 11300 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 Phone: (850) 681-6810 Fax: (850) 681-9792 Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION vi
STATEMENT OF THE CERTIFIED ISSUE vi
DID THE INJURIES SUSTAINED BY BRIAN ARMSTRONG AND D'JUAN HARRIS RESULT FROM A SINGLE OCCURRENCE OR MULTIPLE OCCURRENCES UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED TO KOIKOS BY DEFENDANTS?
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 3
STANDARD OF REVIEW 7
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 8
ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY
THE INJURIES SUSTAINED BY ARMSTRONG AND
HARRIS RESULTED FROM THE INTRUDER'S
SEPARATE GUNSHOTS WHICH ARE SEPARATE
"OCCURRENCES" UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
INSURANCE POLICY AND FLORIDA LIABILITY
INSURANCE LAW.

Α.	The policy terms substantiate that each accident causing
	<u>injury to a person is a covered occurrence</u>
B.	A gunshot is an accident causing injury that is a covered
	occurrence under the policy
C	
C.	Gunshot injury inflicted by an intruder for which the
	insured is liable is a covered accident
D.	Each gunshot causing injury to a separate person is
	a covered accident
	a covered accident
E.	Other Florida cases are consistent with McQuaig
F.	The immediate cause of an injury determines whether
	there are multiple occurrences when the Insured is
	responsible for another's intentional or criminal acts 23

G.	The cases cited by the federal trial judge do not support
	the Insurer's position
H.	Other policy language broadening accident coverage to
	include injury caused by gradual exposure to harmful
	conditions is inapplicable to this case 28
I.	Ambiguity as to the applicability of the definition of
	"occurrence" must be resolved in favor of greater
	<u>coverage</u> 30
CONCLUS	ION
CERTIFICA	ATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases

American Indem. Co. v. McQuaig, 435 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) passim
Bender Shipbuilding & Repair Co. v. Brasileiro, 874 F.2d 1551 (11th Cir. 1989)
Broadwell Realty Service, Inc. v. Fidelity & Casualty Co. 528 A.2d 76 (N.J. Super. Ct. 1987)
Council v. Paradigm Ins. Co., 2001 U.S. Dist. Lexis 2842 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 7, 2001
Dimmitt Chevrolet v. Southeastern Fidelity, 636 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 1993)
Feeney & Myers v. Empire State Insurance Co., 228 F.2d 770 (10th Cir. 1955)
Grange Mutual Casualty Co. v. Thomas, 301 So.2d 158 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1974)
Harvey v. St. Paul Western Ins. Cos. 166 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1964)
H. E. Butt Grocery Co. v. National Union Fire Ins. Co., 150 F.3d 526 (5 th Cir. 1998), <u>reh. en banc den.</u> , 159 F.3d 1358 (5 th Cir. 1998)
Home Indem. Co. v. Mobile, 749 F.2d 659 (11th Cir. 1984)
LaFarge Corp. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 118 F.3d 1511, (11th Cir. 1997)

(5th Cir. 1968)
Maurice Pincoffs Co. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 447 F.2d 204 (5th Cir. 1971)
Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Pipher, 140 F.3d 222 (3rd Cir. 1997)
Pan American World Airways, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 505 F.2d 989 (2d Cir. 1974)
Phillips v. Ostrer, 481 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), rev. denied, 492 So. 2d 1334 (Fla. 1986)
Queens Ins. Co. v. Globe & Rutgers Fire Ins. Co., 263 U.S. 487 (1924)
S. F. v. West American Ins. Co., 463 S.E.2d 450 (Va. 1995)
Security Ins. Co. v. Investor Diversified, Ltd., 407 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)
Southern International Corp. v. Poly-Urethane Industries, Inc., 353 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977)
Spengler v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 568 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. denied, 577 So.2d 1328 (Fla. 1991) 13
State v. Brandt, 460 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) rev. denied, 467 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1985)
State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. CTC Dev. Corp., 720 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1998)
State Farm Lloyds v. Williams, 960 S.W.2d 781 (Tex. Ct. App. 1997)

Steuart Petroleum Co. v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyds, 696 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. dism., 701 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1997)
Sunshine Birds & Supplies, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 696 So. 2d 907 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997)
Travelers Ins. Co. v. C.J. Gayfer's & Co., 366 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979)
United States Fire Ins. Co. v. Safeco Ins. Co., 444 So.2d 844 (Ala. 1983)
Vera v. Beto, 422 F.2d 1052 (5th Cir. 1970)
-
Other Authorities
<u>Annot.</u> , 4 A.L.R.4th 1253 (1981)
30A Fla. Jur. 2d <u>Insurance</u> § 1692
Rules
Rule 9.030(a)(3), Fla. R. App. P
Rule 9.150, Fla. R. App. P
Rule 9.210(a)(2), Fla. R. App. P

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Florida Supreme Court's jurisdiction arises upon certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit under Rules 9.030(a)(3) and 9.150, Fla. R. App. P.

STATEMENT OF THE CERTIFIED ISSUE

DID THE INJURIES SUSTAINED BY BRIAN ARMSTRONG AND D'JUAN HARRIS RESULT FROM A SINGLE OCCURRENCE OR MULTIPLE OCCURRENCES UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED TO KOIKOS BY DEFENDANTS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Koikos is the owner-proprietor of the Spartan Restaurant in Tallahassee, Florida. He rented the restaurant to members of a college fraternity for a private party. Appellants Brian Armstrong and D'Juan Harris attended the party, and were seriously injured when an intruder fired gunshots into the restaurant. Armstrong and Harris filed separate actions in state court, alleging that Koikos was responsible for their injuries because Koikos failed to provide adequate security. (R1-1, Complaint Ex. B and C).

Appellees, Travelers Insurance Company and Charter Oak Fire Insurance Company (collectively the Insurers) provide general liability coverage under a policy issued to Koikos. (R1-1, Complaint Ex. A). They acknowledged policy coverage for the Armstrong and Harris suits, but limited coverage to \$500,000 pursuant to the policy's single occurrence limitation.

Appellants contend that the intruder's separate gunshots, which separately injured Armstrong and Harris and were the immediate cause of their injuries, should be separate "accidents" under the policy, subject only to the policy's aggregate coverage limit of \$1 million.

The Insurers contend that Koikos' alleged negligent security was a single harmful condition and therefore a single occurrence under the policy. (R1-1 Complaint Ex. D; R1-20, Charter Oak's Answer ¶ 16 and Second Defense). In other words, in limiting

coverage to a single occurrence, the Insurers looked to the reason that Koikos allegedly incurred liability for the injuries (i.e., the alleged negligent security) rather the immediate cause of the injuries which resulted in potential liability to Koikos (i.e. the intruder's shootings that Koikos allegedly should have reasonably foreseen and prevented).

Koikos brought this declaratory action in state court to determine coverage under the liability insurance policy. The Insurers removed the case to the United States District Court. (R1-1). The District Court granted Armstrong and Harris permission to intervene in this coverage action on the side of Koikos. (R1-28, 29).

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. (Defendants' Motion R1-39; Intervenors' Motions R1-40, R2-41; Plaintiff's Motion R2-42). Pleadings and testimony in the underlying tort claims and related cases were submitted in support of these motions without objection. (R1-40, R2-41).

The District Court entered its order holding that the events constitute a single "occurrence" under the policy and granting summary judgment limiting coverage as requested by the Insurers. (Order, R2-61; Final Judgment, R2-62).

Koikos appealed to the Eleventh Circuit, which certified the issue to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the night of April 25, 1997, Koikos rented the restaurant to Alpha Kappa Psi fraternity of Florida A&M University for a graduation party. (R2-61-2).

In the early morning hours of April 26, two intruders tried to enter the party but were turned away with words exchanged. Sometime later, the two intruders returned and renewed the argument. (R2-61-2). One of the guests, Leslie Miller, struck one of the intruders and knocked him down. (R1-40 D. Bell Test. 123; Lowery Test. 146; Miller Test. 158). The other intruder, Charles Bell, pulled out a handgun and began firing. (R2-61-2).

Bell fired shots into the restaurant, paused to assist his companion to his feet, then fired additional shots into the restaurant as both intruders exited the restaurant. A nearby off-duty police officer reported four or five gunshot noises, then another two shots. (R1-40 Batson Test. 65-66, 75). The police crime scene technician later recovered six projectiles and six .45 caliber ammunition casings from the scene. (R1-40 Korngay Test. 329).

Five guests at the party suffered gunshot injuries (R1-40 Transcript):

Brian Armstrong was shot in the temple (<u>Id</u>. Skaarhaug Test. 79-81).

D'Juan Harris was shot in the back (<u>Id</u>. Batson Test. 73).

Leslie Miller was shot in the midsection and leg (Id. Miller Test. 162).

Tracy Holton was shot in the leg (Id. Holton Test. 178).

Olutokunbo Akiode was shot in the hand and hip (<u>Id</u>. Akiode Test. 314).

There is no evidence that any single shot injured more than one victim. It is a reasonable inference that each of the victims was injured by a separate shot.

Brian Armstrong sued Koikos alleging that Koikos was responsible for his gunshot injuries inflicted by the assailant because Koikos failed to employ trained security guards who could have prevented the assailant from entering the premises or controlled and removed the assailant. (R1-1 Complaint Ex. B \P 9, R2-41 Ex. B \P 9).

D'Juan Harris also sued alleging that Koikos was liable for his gunshot injuries inflicted by the assailant, because Koikos provided negligent security and failed to warn patrons of possible dangers. (R1-1 Complaint Ex. C, ¶s 4, 6 and 9; R2-41 Ex. C¶s 4, 6 and 9).

These complaints clearly allege that the direct or immediate cause of the injuries was the separate gunshots fired by the intruder Charles Bell. The complaints also allege that Koikos was responsible for the resulting injuries because he negligently failed to protect or warn each victim against a foreseeable attack. (R2-41, Armstrong Complaint ¶s 5-10; Harris Complaint ¶s 9-10, 15).

The other three shooting victims, Miller, Holton and Akiode, have not brought any action against Koikos as of this date.

Koikos' general liability policy provided that Travelers would provide Business Owners Coverage through its affiliate, Charter Oak Fire Insurance Company, as set forth in the Common Policy Declarations. (R2-41, Ex. F., Form IL T3 15 12 94 at 2, Form IL TO 25 04 90 at 1).

The applicable "Coverage Part" provided that:

- a. [The insuring company] will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies....
- b. This insurance applies to "bodily injury" and "property damage" only if:
 - (1) The "bodily injury" ... is caused by an "occurrence" that takes place in the "coverage territory." (e.s.)

(R2-41, Ex. F, Form CG 00 01 10 93 at 1).

The policy defines "occurrence" as "<u>an accident</u>, <u>including</u> continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions." (R2-41, Ex. F., Form CG 00 01 10 93 at 11). (e.s.) The term "accident" is not defined by the policy.

The limits of insurance were set out in the Business Owners Coverage Part Declarations. The Each Occurrence Limit in the Declarations was \$500,000 and the General Aggregate Limit in the Declarations was \$1,000,000. (R2-41, Ex. F., Form MP TO 01 05 95 at 1). The policy provided in Section III, Limits of Insurance, that the Each Occurrence Limit amount is the most that would be paid because of all bodily injury arising out of any one occurrence; and further the limits shown on the

Declarations were the most the insuring company would pay regardless of the number of claims made or persons making claims. (R2-41, Ex. F, Form CG 00 01 10 93 at 6-7).

On August 12, 1998, the Insurers notified Koikos through counsel that they considered all claims to be a single occurrence, and that they would apply the \$500,000 per occurrence limit to all claims. (R1-1, Complaint Ex. D).

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment to determine Koikos' coverage if the victims prevailed or settled. All parties agreed there were no disputed issues of material fact. Federal District Judge William Stafford granted a final summary judgment in favor of the Insurers. (R2-61). Koikos and the Intervenors Armstrong and Harris appealed to the Eleventh Circuit, which certified the following issue to this Court:

DID THE INJURIES SUSTAINED BY BRIAN ARMSTRONG AND D'JUAN HARRIS RESULT FROM A SINGLE OCCURRENCE OR MULTIPLE OCCURRENCES UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED TO KOIKOS BY DEFENDANTS?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The certified question involves the interpretation of an insurance contract which is a pure issue of law. No deference is due the summary judgment ruling of the federal district court. In federal courts the interpretation of an insurance contract is a legal issue subject to <u>de novo</u> review. <u>LaFarge Corp. v. Travelers Indem. Co.</u>, 118 F.3d 1511, 1514, (11th Cir. 1997).

Florida courts apply the same standard. <u>Steuart Petroleum Co. v. Certain</u> <u>Underwriters at Lloyds</u>, 696 So. 2d 376, 379 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), <u>rev. dism.</u>, 701 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1997) (appellate court is on equal footing with the trial court).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There are many situations where an Insured may be liable for injuries caused by another's intentional or criminal acts. Among these situations are negligent hiring, retention, supervision, training, or failure to warn or provide security. This case will establish whether a liability Insurer can limit its policy obligation in such cases by claiming that the harm done by separate acts to separate persons is one accident or occurrence.¹

Koikos believes that the number of "occurrences" for purposes of the single occurrence limitation in this case is determined by the direct or immediate cause of the injuries for which he is responsible, specifically the intruder's separate gunshots injuring separate victims. While there may be only one on-going negligent failure or inactivity whereby the Insured may become responsible for another's physical act, that does not mean there was only one accident causing the injuries. Just as the accidental shooting of two separate persons by the Insured would be two covered accidents, an intruder's shooting of two separate persons on the Insured's property for which the Insured is liable is likewise two covered accidents.

¹ The terms occurrence and accident will be used interchangeably in the brief as the policy definition of "occurrence" is an "accident." An accident causing injury may be one that occurs quickly, such as a car wreck, or one that occurs slowly over a period of time, such as continuous or repeated exposure to a chemical.

The number of accidents should not be determined by the singularity of the reason or theory by which the Insured incurs liability, but rather by the direct or immediate cause of the injuries or the accidents for which the Insured is potentially liable. This position is consistent with the standard policy language in this case, Florida case law, and other reasoned authorities.

The policy in this case provides coverage if bodily injury is caused by an accident. Injury caused by a third person for which the Insured is liable is a covered accident. Accordingly, the intruder's shooting of two individuals with two separate gunshots are separate accidents covered by the policy. The intruder commits two crimes when he or she shoots different victims, and there is no reason why these two separate torts should be treated any differently for liability insurance coverage.

American Indemnity Co. v. McQuaig, 435 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), squarely holds that multiple gunshots, injuring multiple victims, constitute multiple occurrences under a liability policy. The Court held each gunshot was a "proximate, uninterrupted and continuous cause which resulted in the injuries." The insurance law maxim *causa proxima non remota spectatur* (the immediate not the remote cause is considered), likewise, is consistent with McQuaig.

The Insurers argue that the policy definition of "occurrence" is narrowed by the language that an "accident" includes continuous exposure to the same harmful conditions. However, this language broadens, rather than limits, coverage to include slow or continuous accidents such as exposure to chemical toxins, as well as more traditional accidents that occur rapidly. This language does not apply to this case dealing with "fast-happening" accidents, and should not be invoked to limit coverage as if only gradual harm were involved. Moreover, the failure to prevent harm caused by an outside force is not the same as a "harmful condition" that itself directly produces harm over time. At the very least, the policy language is ambiguous and must be construed in favor of Koikos by finding multiple "occurrences" in this case.

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY

THE INJURIES SUSTAINED BY ARMSTRONG AND HARRIS RESULTED FROM THE INTRUDER'S SEPARATE GUNSHOTS WHICH ARE SEPARATE "OCCURRENCES" UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INSURANCE POLICY AND FLORIDA LIABILITY INSURANCE LAW.

A. The policy terms substantiate that each accident causing injury to a person is a covered occurrence.

The policy states that the insurance applies if "bodily injury ... is caused by an occurrence."

"Bodily injury" is defined to mean injury sustained by a person.

"Occurrence" is defined to mean:

an <u>accident</u>, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions. (e.s.)

Construing these provisions together, it is apparent that an "occurrence" is determined with reference to an <u>accident</u> causing bodily injury to <u>a person</u>.

In the circumstances of this case involving injury by gunshot, an occurrence is the accident or unexpected happening causing bodily injury to each intervenor, not the inactivity of the insured making him potentially liable for their injuries. The bodily injury to each intervenor was clearly caused by the separate gunshots of the intruder. Coverage exists because Koikos is alleged to be responsible for these accidents (unexpected events from Koikos' viewpoint).

The policy states that the Each Occurrence Limit shown on the Declarations is the most the insurer will pay "because of all bodily injury... arising out of any one occurrence." This provision reinforces that a covered accident is that which causes bodily injury to a person. While the Limits of Insurance section limits the indemnity amount regardless of the number of claims made or the number of persons making claims, that does not change the policy coverage for each accident that causes bodily injury. For example, if one accident injured two persons, that would be a single

occurrence. But this provision does not change multiple accidents injuring separate persons into a single occurrence.

If the Court were to adopt the Insurers' position in this case, the effect would be that injuries caused by a third person for which the Insured is responsible would always be subject to the single occurrence limitation. The Insurers would always contend that the Insured was only negligent once in continually failing to do something, despite the fact the separate acts for which the Insured is allegedly responsible caused injury to different persons. This test would unfairly restrict coverage for serious injuries like those in this case.

B. A gunshot is an accident causing injury that is

a covered occurrence under the policy.

The policy definition of "occurrence" means an "accident." The word "accident" encompasses "accidental events or injuries or damages neither expected nor intended from the standpoint of the insured," and should be construed liberally in favor of the insured. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. CTC Dev. Corp., 720 So. 2d 1072, 1075-76 (Fla. 1998). When an unexpected injury results from the insured's intentional act, an accident occurs for purposes of liability insurance. Id.

Hence, if the insured shoots or strikes another unintentionally or by mistake, there is an accident causing bodily injury that is a covered occurrence. See, e.g., Harvey v. St. Paul Western Ins. Cos., 166 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1964)(shooting while attempting to disarm person in fight); Grange Mutual Casualty Co. v. Thomas, 301 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1974)(bystander unintentionally shot during family quarrel); Spengler v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 568 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. denied, 577 So. 2d 1328 (Fla. 1991)(insured intended to shoot a supposed burglar but actually shot his girlfriend instead). See also American Indemnity Co. v. McQuaig, 435 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)(insured's shooting of police officer while insane).

C. <u>Gunshot injury inflicted by an intruder for which</u>

the insured is liable is a covered accident.

Liability coverage also exists when the insured is unexpectedly liable for physical harm inflicted on another by an employee, independent contractor or stranger who acts intentionally. The Insurers in this case did not deny coverage, but rather claimed that coverage was limited to the single occurrence limit.

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