CASE NO.: SC 01-301

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE N. KOIKOS d/b/a Spartan Restaurant,

Appellant,

v.

THE TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation, and CHARTER OAK FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Appellees.	

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit Case No: 00-11611

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES THE TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY and CHARTER OAK FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly construed the provisions of CHARTER OAK's policy and concluded that the underlying shooting incident constituted a single occurrence. The term "occurrence" is defined as "an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions." On the night in question, Intervenors HARRIS and ARMSTRONG sustained bodily injury

as a result of a "continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions." Thus, the \$500,000 limit applied to the underlying shooting incident. This conclusion by the trial court was further supported by the terms of the policy which state that the \$500,000 limit applied: A) regardless of the number of persons making injury claims; and, B) to all bodily injury arising out of any one "continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions". The trial court's conclusion that only one occurrence was presented was thus fully supported by the provisions of CHARTER OAK's policy.

In his brief KOIKOS asserts that the issue at bar should be controlled by American Indemnity Company v. McQuaig, 435 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). The District Court correctly rejected this contention. There are three separate reasons why McQuaig is distinguishable. First, the insurance policy which the Fourth District Court of Appeal construed in McQuaig did not contain the language set forth in CHARTER OAK's policy, which defines "occurrence" as an "accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions." Second, the policy at issue in McQuaig did not contain provisions which fixed the limits of insurance "regardless of the number of claims made or suits brought; or, the number of persons or organizations making claims or bringing suits." Finally, the insured in McQuaig was the actual shooter, rather than a party (like KOIKOS) who

was charged with negligently failing to prevent a shooter from injuring people on his premises.

McQuaig thus has no application to the insurance policy issued by CHARTER OAK and/or to the underlying claims against KOIKOS. Furthermore, there are other decisions (from other Florida District Courts of Appeal and other jurisdictions) which have construed language similar to that contained in CHARTER OAK's policy and found a single occurrence to exist under circumstances analogous to those at issue here. Based on this weight of authority, the District Court correctly concluded that the underlying shooting incident constituted one occurrence.

In his brief KOIKOS asserts that the number of occurrences presented should be determined by the number of shots which injured victims on the night in question. This analysis would require that this court either ignore or substantially re-write the terms of CHARTER OAK's policy. Further, as noted by the District Court, adoption of the "number of shooting victims" test proffered by KOIKOS would be tantamount to a ruling that Florida utilizes the "effect theory" to determine the number of occurrences under a liability policy. As admitted by KOIKOS, Florida subscribes to the "cause theory" in determining the number of occurrences presented.

The available authorities in Florida which have addressed analogous fact situations and similar policy language reveal that the number of occurrences present is determined by focusing on the act or series of related acts <u>subjecting the insured to</u>

liability. This analysis has also been employed in numerous other decisions. Under this test, it is clear that KOIKOS was subjected to liability because of his alleged negligent failure to keep patrons on his premises safe from criminal attack on the evening in question. The incident at issue in this case thus constituted a single occurrence under the CHARTER OAK policy. Obviously, multiple people were allegedly injured as a result of this conduct. However, under the clear language of CHARTER OAK's policy (and the "cause theory"), the number of people injured is not relevant in determining the number of occurrences presented.

The provisions of CHARTER OAK's policy are clear and unambiguous. Application of the policy terms to the underlying shooting incident compels a finding that only one occurrence was presented. Any other holding would lead to results which were clearly never intended by the parties to the contract based on the plain meaning of the words in the insurance policy.

Appellees request that this Court respond to the certified question by finding that the shooting incident in which ARMSTRONG and HARRIS were injured constituted a single occurrence under the terms of CHARTER OAK's policy.

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY

I. THE SHOOTING INCIDENT IN WHICH ARMSTRONG AND HARRIS WERE INJURED CONSTITUTED A SINGLE OCCURRENCE UNDER CHARTER OAK'S POLICY

A. The plain language of Charter Oak's policy controls

The first inquiry for a court in an insurance coverage action is to construe the terms of the insurance policy so as to give effect to the stated intent of the parties. See, Stuyvesant Ins. Co. v. Butler, 314 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1975). Courts should construe policies as a whole in an attempt to ascertain the intent of the insuring agreement. South Carolina Ins. Co. v. Heuer, 402 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 4th DCA1981), rev. denied, 412 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1982); see also, Sec. 627.419 (1) Fla. Stat. ("Every insurance contract shall be construed according to the entirety of its terms and conditions as set forth in the policy..."). Further, a court should not rewrite a contract of insurance by extending the coverage afforded beyond that plainly set forth in the policy. U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v. Morejon, 338 So. 2d 223, 225 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

Applying these principles to the case under review, the policy states that a limit of \$500,000 applies to each occurrence/accident. An accident includes "continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.".

Intervenors ARMSTRONG and HARRIS alleged (and the facts proved) that on the evening in question they were both injured by "substantially the same general harmful condition" on KOIKOS' premises. The fact that two of them were injured in the incident does not change the result. The policy expressly states that the \$500,000 limit applies regardless of the number of people injured in the accident. See, Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson, 756 So. 2d 29, 32 n. 3 (Fla. 2000)(wherein this Court compared a "per person/per accident" limit with a "per occurrence" limit and noted that a per occurrence limit applies "regardless of the number of people involved in the accident...".).

The operative language of CHARTER OAK's policy is easily applied to the facts of the underlying claim. KOIKOS was charged with negligently failing to keep his premises safe on the night in question. As a result of this alleged breach of duty, ARMSTRONG and HARRIS were gunned down in the lobby of the Spartan Restaurant within seconds of each other. A very serious incident occurred that night. From KOIKOS' perspective, the occurrence on his premises was accidental (i.e. unexpected). See, Initial Brief at pp. 11-15. The number of people injured in the incident was only dependent on the direction(s) the gun was fired and the location of particular bystanders/participants. Adopting the test proffered by KOIKOS, i.e. "one occurrence for each claimant shot in the lobby," would require this Court to ignore the

plain language of CHARTER OAK's policy, and thereby violate firmly established principles of policy construction.⁵

B. Courts in other jurisdictions have found one occurrence under similar facts and policy language.

In <u>Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Olive's Sporting Goods</u>, Inc., 764 S.W. 2d 596 (Ark. 1989), Olive's Sporting Goods (Travelers' insured) was sued for negligent sale of guns to an individual who later shot a policeman, killed and wounded several other persons, and then committed suicide. The insurance policy in question contained a definition of occurrence which included the repeated exposure to conditions language, and limited liability regardless of the number of persons injured or claims made. The <u>Olive's Sporting Goods</u> court found that the policy was not ambiguous and held that there was only one occurrence under the insurance policy - the insured's alleged negligent sale of weapons to the assailant. <u>Id</u>. at 599.

⁵On pages 28-32 of his brief, Koikos essentially requests that this Court ignore the complete definition of "occurrence" in Charter Oaks' policy when the underlying case involves a "fast-happening" accident rather than a "slow tort." The plain language used in the definition of occurrence precludes such an interpretation. Further, this proposed construction goes against established, well-reasoned Florida caselaw. See Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co. , 610 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)(the term "accident," as used in the definintion of "occurrence," includes not only a single, sudden, unexpected event that causes damage, but also includes injury or damage that results from a created or preexisting condition for which the insured is legally responsible, even though it may have occurred or persisted over an extended period of time).

Similarly, in Continental Ins. Co. v. Hancock, 507 S.W. 2rd 146 (Ky. App. 1973) the insured operated a nightclub. An altercation inside the nightclub ultimately led to a fighting incident in the parking lot. In the affray, three patrons were injured. The nightclub was sued for negligence in allowing the incident to occur on its premises. Continental had issued a liability policy to the nightclub which contained a definition of "occurrence" (and a limitation regardless of number of persons injured, etc.) which was similar to the one before this Court. Applying the policy language to the facts before it, the Hancock court held that only one occurrence was presented by the fighting incident, even though multiple people were injured. Id. at 152.6

CHARTER OAK respectfully suggests that this Court should apply the same analysis as that employed in <u>Olive's Sporting Goods</u> and <u>Hancock</u>, <u>supra</u>, and reach the same result. Based on the plain language used, the intent of CHARTER OAK's insuring agreement is clear: a given accident (or occurrence) includes continuous or

⁶ Appellees urge this Court to consider the results in <u>Olive's Sporting Goods</u> and <u>Hancock</u> (finding a single occurrence for multiple shootings where the policy language was similar to CHARTER OAK's policy) in contradistinction to the holdings in <u>State Farm Lloyds v. Williams</u>, 960 S.W. 2rd 781 (Tx. 1997) and <u>American Indemnity Company v. McQuaig</u>, 435 So. 2rd 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) (finding more than one occurrence for multiple shootings where the policy did not contain language similar to CHARTER OAK's). <u>See</u>, KOIKOS' Initial Brief at pp. 16-19 and 26-27. Although the court in <u>Williams</u> cited <u>McQuaig</u> in support of its holding, other courts have expressly refused to apply <u>McQuaig</u> because the policy at issue in <u>McQuaig</u> did not contain the "continuous or repeated exposure to...conditions" language. <u>See</u>, <u>State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Elizabeth N.</u>, 9 Cal. App. 4th 1232, 1238, n.2 (Cal. 1st DCA 1992); Foust v. Ranger Ins. Co., 975 S.W. 2rd 329 (Tx. 4th DCA 1998).

repeated exposures to substantially the same general harmful conditions - and, the limit of liability (\$500,000) applies to all bodily injury arising out of the incident, regardless of how many people present injury claims.⁷

C. Florida Courts have construed similar policy language to find one occurrence.

In Southern International Corp. v. Poly-Urethane Industries, Inc., 353 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 3d. DCA 1977), the Third District Court of Appeal construed the same policy language as that contained in the CHARTER OAK policy. In Poly-Urethane Industries, the insured roofing contractor entered into a contract to apply sealant to the roofs of each of the different buildings at a condominium complex. Several months after the sealant was applied, various tenants of the buildings which had been treated began experiencing leaks in the roofs. Like CHARTER OAK's policy, the insuring agreement at issue in Poly-Urethane Industries contained both an "Each Occurrence" limit and an "Aggregate" limit, and further provided that all injury arising out of "continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general conditions" would be considered as arising out of one occurrence. Id. at 647.

On pages 30-32 of his brief, Koikos asserts that the lack of uniformity of interpretation of the term "occurrence" is a basis to extend additional coverage. In reply, CHARTER OAK states that the case authorities involving similar policy language and claims against insureds for negligently permitting multiple shootings to occur have consistently found one occurrence. See Hancock and Olive's Sporting Goods supra.

Based on these facts and policy language, the Poly-Urethane Industries court ruled that all injuries were subject to the Each Occurrence limit rather than the Aggregate limit. Id. at 648. This ruling is significant for two reasons. First, in determining the number of occurrences presented, the Poly-Urethane Industries court focused on the continuous and related actions of the insured which created the liability, i.e. improperly applying sealant. Id.; see also State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. CTC Development Corp., 720 So. 2d 1071, 1076 (Fla. 1998)(the term "accident" should be viewed from the perspective of the insured). Second, notwithstanding the fact that:

A) the insured had applied the sealant to multiple buildings at the condominium complex; and, B) "various tenants of these buildings" sustained water leaks, the Poly-Urethane Industries court still ruled that the incident was subject to the "Each Occurrence" limit.

Similarly, in Reliance Ins. Co. v. Treasure Coast Travel Agency, Inc., 660 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 4^h DCA 1995), the Fourth District Court of Appeal considered policy language which defined an occurrence as: "all loss caused by, or involving, one or more 'employees' whether the result of a single act or series of acts." The Court held that an employee's series of embezzlements which occurred over a four-year period constituted a single occurrence. Reliance, 660 So.2d at 1137.

CHARTER OAK thus submits that Florida courts have followed the rule, adopted by the majority of jurisdictions, that where the policy contains a definition of

the term "occurrence" (which specifies that an occurrence is intended to include continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general conditions, or similar language), a single occurrence will be found where the injuries at issue are attributable to substantially the same acts or omisions (causative negligence of the insured), regardless of the number of persons injured or the labels given to the allegedly negligent acts which resulted in those same injuries. The majority of jurisdictions have agreed that this is the better view because to decide otherwise would result in a no-limits policy. Travelers Indem. Co. v. Olive's Sporting Goods, Inc., 764 S.W. 2d 596 (Ark. 1989)("To decide that each of the injuries required separate coverage under the policy would in effect put a no-limits policy into effect").8

D. American Indemnity v. McQuaig does not support a finding of multiple occurrences

In his brief at pp. 16-19, KOIKOS maintains that this Court should find multiple occurrences on the basis of <u>American Indemnity Company v. McQuaig</u>, 435 So.2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). In response, CHARTER OAK asserts that <u>McQuaig</u> is entirely distinguishable because the liability policy involved in that case did not contain the same policy language as that contained in the CHARTER OAK policy; and also

⁸ In his brief at p. 8-9, Intervenor ARMSTRONG has cited <u>Consolidated Ins.</u> <u>Co. v. Henderson</u>, 542 So. 2nd 1032 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) for the proposition that multiple occurrences should be found. However, as this decision was a *per curiam* affirmance, under Florida law it has no precedential value. <u>See</u>, <u>The Department of Legal Affairs v. District Court of Appeal, Fifth District</u>, 434 So. 2nd 310 (Fla. 1983).

because in McQuaig the insured was the actual shooter, rather than one who was charged with negligence in failing to prevent a shooting incident.

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